DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



HAROLD DARGAN,

Petitioner

Clerk of the Court

Received 05/15/2025 05:04 PM

Filed 05/15/2025 05:04 PM

v.

D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS, *et al.*,

Respondent

No. 24-CV-1001

On Appeal From The Superior Court

On Appeal From The D.C. Office Of Employee Appeals

On Appeal From The D.C. Fire and Emergency Medical Services Department

**BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER**

Frederic W. Schwartz, Jr.  
2600 Virginia Ave., NW  
Watergate 205  
Washington, DC 20037  
(202) 463-0880 197137  
FWS888@aol.com

##

## **ISSUES ON REVIEW**

1. Did FEMS fail to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence as it must, that it did not know, or should not have known, of the act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause for its corrective or adverse action more than 90 days, not including Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays, prior to its occurrence as required by D.C. Code § 5-1031 and 6 DCMR 629.3?
2. May FEMS under Constitutional, statutory and regulatory constraints refuse to submit Mr. Dargan's Department of Health (DOH) EMT certification renewal form to the DOH and then terminate Mr. Dargan for not having renewed his DOH certification?
3. Can Mr. Dargan be terminated under FEMS Agency Bulletin No. 83 before he is allowed the full extent of testing and training provided for in FEMS Agency Bulletin No. 83 as well as relevant FEMS practices and procedures ?
4. Did the OEA Senior Administrative Judge, with the concurrence of the OEA Appellate Board, violate Mr. Dargan's Due Process and procedural rights?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This matter is before this Court--again--on the 12-year-old series of appeals by former Fire and Emergency Services (FEMS) EMT Harold Dargan from the decisions of FEMS (4 times), the DC Office of Employee Appeals (OEA) (4 times), and the Superior Court (4 times). It also has been before this Court twice. It was first remanded by this Court to the OEA. Rec. 159 A second appeal of the new OEA decision on subsequent remand was denied by this Court as not ripe for review since the OEA decision was remanded to the OEA at the request of FEMS and OEA over the objection of Mr. Dargan. ( 2022 CA001072 -P (MPA)

This Court in its only substantive review found the initial decision of the OEA Senior Administrative Judge incomprehensible and remanded with specific instructions as to the remedy. Rec. 1259 The OEA Senior Administrative Judge reconstructed this Court's instructions, however, in a manner which prevented their resolution and guaranteed the same result as before. Rec. 530. 541, *et seq.*, 1319, 1372

One may ask what is the momentous and convoluted remedy Mr. Dargan seeks which has yet to be resolved despite a record exceeding 1600 pages. Simply to be afforded an opportunity to receive the remedial training on a computerized mannequin to which he was entitled and then to follow the proper and customary

path leading to his recertification as an EMT. This process is set out in detail in the relief requested in the Conclusion of this brief.

Throughout Mr. Dargan has asked for this simple and straightforward relief. To avoid confusion it is important to stress what the requested relief is not about. All parties believe that the FEMS Medical Director must have the absolute right—short of discriminatory *animus*--to protect the public by designating which EMTs and Paramedics are to be permitted to practice under his licensure. Similarly the substantive correctness of this determination is likely too sophisticated to be reviewed successfully by those without medical training. This challenge is not to the conclusion of the Medical Director concerning Mr. Dargan's performance in February 2012, but rather the steps the newly hired Medical Director took after the February 2012 tests--even to the extent of dishonesty--- to ensure that his initial conclusion would not be contravened.

As we demonstrate below, FEMS has established a carefully structured remedial retraining process—rather than (at least initially) a disciplinary process—to protect its investment in its emergency medical personnel. Thus, if a skills-based error by medical personnel is made, the employee is removed from active duty in the field and reassigned to the FEMS Training Academy for remedial training. Rec. 393 This is particular important because the scarcity of

trained, experienced and certified EMT has required FEMS to hire a private ambulance transportation contractor at an annual cost approaching \$12 million.

<https://fems.dc.gov/release/fems-expands-district%20%99s-ambulance-capacity-through-third-party-contract>;

[https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/private-ambulance-crews-are-part-of-dcs-911-landscape-but-is-the-change-permanent/2017/06/07/946fce0a-4680-11e7-a196-a1bb629f64cb\\_story.html?utm\\_term=.208969c2ffb4](https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/private-ambulance-crews-are-part-of-dcs-911-landscape-but-is-the-change-permanent/2017/06/07/946fce0a-4680-11e7-a196-a1bb629f64cb_story.html?utm_term=.208969c2ffb4)

While at the Training Academy the employee no longer provides medical services under the Medical Director's Licensure until satisfactorily remediated in a manner which fully resolves the Medical Director's concerns. If further remedial training fails after the testing and retesting procedures established by FEMS, the Medical Director can request that the employee's certification by the D.C. Department of Health be terminated or not renewed.<sup>1</sup>

This practice, and its ramifications for failure, are set out in FEMS Agency Bulletin No. 83 as discussed below. Rec. 50 The procedures set out in Bulletin No. 83, however, were improperly and prematurely pretermitted in Mr. Dargan's

---

<sup>1</sup> The Department of Health (DOH) has instituted a complex appeals process if it denies certification or recertification, but it is doubtful it would be utilized in the case of the District of Columbia for the reasons discussed above and consequently would not provide meaningful review in the circumstances existing here. 29 DCMR 564

case by the Medical Director and FEMS as also discussed below. These procedural failures, among others, require reversing Mr. Dargan's termination. Importantly these failures did not and do not require a review of the Medical Director's initial evaluation of Mr. Dargan. They merely require returning Mr. Dargan to the FEMS Training Academy to resume the procedures set out in Agency Bulletin No. 83 and other Agency procedures. This is the remedy requested of this Court

## **FACTS**

### **A. Facts relevant to the charge.**

Mr. Dargan, the employee, worked for the Department of Fire and Emergency Medical Services (FEMS). Rec. 390 He was promoted from Emergency Medical Technician ("EMT") to Basic Paramedic, DS-0699-08, on October 2, 2005. Rec. 390 Mr. Dargan held National and District of Columbia certifications that designated him as an EMT-Intermediate/99 ("EMT 1/99"), which was equivalent to being a Basic Paramedic. Rec. 390 During his employment with FEMS Mr. Dargan maintained all appropriate National and District of Columbia certifications and registrations until the then-current Medical Director, Dr. Miramontes, refused to authorize his recertification by the District of Columbia Department of Health. The failure of the Medical Director to permit Mr. Dargan's recertification led to his dismissal under FEMS Agency Bulletin No.

83. Rec. 48, 391 Prior to the Medical Director's refusal to authorize Mr. Dargan's recertification by the District of Columbia Department of Health Mr. Dargan had successfully completed all courses necessary for his re-certifications as an EMT-I/99. Rec. 391 Mr. Dargan had also obtained additional certifications of competency. Rec. 391

FEMS Agency Bulletin No. 83 outlined the Agency's policy for the required certification and recertification of EMTs by the National Registry of EMTs ("NREMT"), a prerequisite to obtaining Department of Health Certification along with sponsorship by the Medical Director. Rec. 391

<http://doh.dc.gov/service/ems-provider-certification> This policy applied to all FEMS employees like Mr. Dargan who provided medical assistance, medical treatment, first aid, or lifesaving interventions, on the scene of an emergency or in transit from the scene of an emergency to a health care facility or other treatment facility, to a person who is ill, injured, wounded, or otherwise incapacitated. Rec. 391 This policy states that:

DC Fire & EMS Department employees will be required to complete the National Registry certification process at their respective certification level (EMT-B, EMT-I/99, or EMT-P) and maintain both National Registry certification and District of Columbia (D.C. Department of Health) certification. Rec. 391

Bulletin No. 83 also states that the certification exam consists of two parts: (1) the psychomotor (practical skills) examination and (2) the cognitive (written) examination relating to their position. Rec. 391 Regarding the psychomotor (practical skills) examination, Bulletin No. 83 established the following policy for those at the EMT-Intermediate/99 level:

Psychomotor (Practical Skills) Examination Policies:

EMT-Intermediate/99

EMT-Intermediate/99 candidates are allowed (3) full attempts to pass the psychomotor examination (one "full attempt" is defined as completing all eleven (11) skills and two retesting opportunities if so entitled).

Candidates who fail a full attempt or any portion of a second retest must submit official documentation of remedial training over all skills before starting the next full attempt of the psychomotor examination and reexamining over all eleven (11) skills, provided all other requirements for National Certification are fulfilled. This official documentation must be signed by the EMT Training Program Director or Physician Medical Director of training/operations that verifies remedial training over all skills has occurred since the last unsuccessful attempt and the candidate has demonstrated competence in all skills. DC Fire & EMS Department Employees who fail the third full and final attempt of the National Registry EMT-Intermediate/99 psychomotor examination will be subject to adverse action. Rec. 391

Mr. Dargan until his termination held a Department of Health certification card that designated him as "qualified to serve in the District of Columbia as an EMT-Intermediate, Active" that was issued on June 18, 2010 and expired on June 30, 2012. Rec. 392 While Mr. Dargan's DOH certification expired on June 30, 2012,

he still possessed current EMT 1/99 certification from the National Registry of Emergency Medical Technicians which expired on March 31, 2014, ACLS certification which expired in 2013, and a CPR (course C) certification which expired in July 2013. Rec. 392 Thus, it is undisputed that the reason that Mr. Dargan was unable to renew his DOH certification was that the Agency's Medical Director refused on February 2, 2012 to allow him to remain an EMT 1/99 under his sponsorship and, subsequently, declined to sign Mr. Dargan's May 30, 2012 DOH certification renewal application. Rec. 392

## **B. The Back Story**

On June 14, 2011, while assigned to Medic No. 27, Petitioner and his senior Paramedic partner who was acting as the Ambulance Crewmember in Charge ("ACC") as well as two additional units responded to a call for an unconscious 32-year old female. While the patient subsequently died the parties agree that there is no record of any charges or disciplinary action by the Operations Division against Mr. Dargan in relation to the June 14, 2011 incident.<sup>2</sup> Indeed there is nothing in the

---

<sup>2</sup>The now retired Superior Court Judge considering this appeal misunderstood the circumstances of Mr. Dargan's referral for remedial training to the Training Academy. It related to his failure to properly insert an endotracheal tube in the patient's windpipe (subsequently reinserted properly). This failure was not related to the patient's death, nor the patient's preexisting condition which necessitated the emergency call, nor when, where and how the patient died.

Record indicating that FEMS took any action against any of the responding FEMS employees. Rec. 393 It is not questioned that Mr. Dargan failed in his paramedic duties with the patient in the manner in which he inserted the endotracheal tube. Rec. 393 Consequently, he was removed from the field by the Office of the Medical Director on that same day and assigned to the Training Academy with a Critical Remediation Action Plan relating to this failure as is customary. Rec. 393

In the ten years prior to June 14, 2011, Mr, Dargan had not been disciplined for a failure in performing or providing medically-related services. Rec. 392 His most recent Performance Review from October 2008 through September 2011 contained no evaluations less than "valued performer." Rec. 392 Indeed, on March 1, 2011, Anita Massengale, the FEMS Clinical Quality Program Manager, notified Mr. Dargan that he would receive a commendation for "continuous outstanding clinical judgment and documentation" in the 2010 DC FEMS Annual Clinical Quality Review. Rec. 393 On May 17, 2011, Ms. Massengale e-mailed several employees, including Mr. Dargan, that they were "missed this morning [for the awards presentation]. But fear not, I called your name with pride! Please drop by the OMD...for your commendation and pin. Again, thank you for your consistent dedication to the profession...." Rec. 393

In mid-July 2011, Mr. Dargan completed his classroom training under his Critical Remediation Action Plan. Consequently, he was assigned to an Advance Life Support field evaluations with Paramedic Reginald Paramore, to begin on July 17, 2011 and to end on July 27, 2011. Rec. 393 That field evaluation was cancelled for reasons not clear from the record.

The next step was the evaluation of Mr. Dargan by the newly appointed Medical Director, Dr. Miramontes. This took place on September 28, 2011. The Medical Director checked the box "Return to Mentor" noting "Close eval. of ability to function in field. Need FISDAP for full release. Re-assessment. Will always be ACA [Ambulance Crewmember Assistant] only under new paramedic partner." Rec. 393 These conditions were customary. On October 6, 2011, Mr. Dargan was assigned to the ALS field evaluation set out by the Medical Director as described above under mentor Sgt. Bachelder. Rec. 393 Coincidentally, the next day (October 7, 2011) Ms. Massengale e-mailed to Mr. Dargan: "I wanted to reach out and let you know that the CQI [Continuous Quality Improvement] department wants to assist you in maintaining the level of excellence you have demonstrated during the past few weeks at TA [Training Academy]." Rec. 394

On January 2, 2012, Paramedic Preceptor Sgt. Bachelder wrote to the Medical Director, noting:

[Mr. Dargan] has improved and progressed from needing an occasional prompting to needing very few prompts during patient care. He has become a better provider for his patients and the agency. Harold has easily accepted the roll [sic] of a team member and works well with other unit members providing care. Harold is very knowledgeable in patient care and protocols. In my opinion IP Harold Dargan is ready to resume his role as an ACA. JA-22, Rec. 394

Sgt. Bachelder's view was based on his evaluation during the 91 medical emergencies in which Mr. Dargan participated as an ambulance crew member. JA 22, Rec. 394; Rec. 423-449 These circumstances and their course were customary as well and expected.

On February 2, 2012, having received the excellent review by Sgt. Bachelder set out above, the Medical Director tested Mr. Dargan's skills as an Advanced Life Support ("ALS") provider. Mr. Dargan's performance when given a practical skills (psychomotor) scenario was deemed inadequate by the Medical Director. The Medical Director immediately rescinded Mr. Dargan's I/99 certification, but allowed him to continue as an EMT-Advanced.<sup>3</sup> Rec. 394

---

<sup>3</sup>It is not clear precisely from the Record what this meant, since 1/99 certification is equivalent to the EMT-Intermediate designation. *See* above. Nonetheless, Mr. Dargan, as discussed below, was never permitted to resume providing medical services thereafter under Dr. Miramontes' sponsorship.

On February 3, 2012, following Mr. Dargan's first examination by the Medical Director, Captain James Follin requested a status update from the Medical Director stating: "[Mr. Dargan] is due to report to [Ambulance] M-30-2 on Wednesday per his telestaff. Due to current circumstances do you want him removed from operations? He can report to the TA [Training Academy] on a 40 hour work week until the administrative actions are completed." Rec. 394 The Medical Director immediately responded to Captain Follin with copies to other senior FEMS officials:

[Mr. Dargan] is officially removed from operations. He needs a new certification card. I offered him an option, He chose another path. He can go into light duty/no patient care process on day work or as assigned until he has a certification. His EMT-I-99 will be pulled.

***He has no training requirements so assigning him to training makes no sense.*** Rec. 135 (Emphasis supplied)

On February 14, 2012, the Medical Director again tested Mr. Dargan's skills as an ALS provider. The Medical Director wrote on the testing documentation that Mr. Dargan had received twelve days of extensive training at the Training Academy since Mr. Dargan's prior examination had been given. Rec. 1156, 1158, 1160 This was untrue. In fact, as demonstrated above, the Medical Director had directed that "assigning him [Mr. Dargan] to training makes no sense" and consequently he was not. Rec. 394

Mr. Dargan's performance in his second practical skills scenario test was again deemed inadequate by the Medical Director. Consequently, the Medical Director did not reinstate Mr. Dargan's I/99 status noting that he did not "have confidence in [Mr. Dargan's] skills as [an] ALS provider." Rec. 395

On the same day, February 14, 2012, the Medical Director sent a confidential e-mail to Dr. Brian Amy of the D.C. Department of Health (DOH). The subject was "Request downgrade of [Mr. Dargan's] Certification after Quality Review." The Medical Director stated:

My assessment reveals that he does not demonstrate the cognitive nor psycho-motor skills that are required for him to function safely as an independent EMT-1-99 advanced life support provider. His technical skills were poor on my last assessment using a patient simulator with megacode session held on 2 February 2012 and again on 14 February 2012.

Basic Paramedic skills such as medication administration, EKG rhythm recognition, and ACLS protocol compliance were not to an acceptable standard. I have offered him a-BLS level of certification as an EMT-Advanced but cannot support him functioning as an EMT 1-99 "paramedic" until such time as he completes a fully accredited Paramedic Course, gains NREMT-Paramedic certification, and completes an assessment by this agency.

Summary of past interventions listed below when taken in context to my recent assessment supports such a decision. He also has been in training since removal from operations on 6/14/2011 after a very concerning complaint of poor performance during Cardiac Arrest run.  
Rec. 395

This confidential February 14, 2012 e-mail concluded with the Medical Director asking that Mr. Dargan's Department of Health Certification be dropped to EMT-Advanced. The Medical Director also noted that he could not authorize re-certification of Employee's NREMT 1-99 certification at that time. Rec. 396

Mr. Dargan had offered two explanations, both reasonable, for his unexpected failures. First the simulation mannequin utilized for the examination was newly acquired and computer controlled in a manner to which he was not accustomed. He was, however, only allowed an hour or so of training on the device. No information or details of the mannequin's complexity appear in the record. Second Mr. Dargan explained that the Medical Director's test called for him to perform both the physical manipulation of the mannequin and simultaneously answer questions from the Medical Director. Mr. Dargan stated he was unfamiliar with this form of multitasking as it was neither utilized nor required in the field. Both of these explanations were rejected out of hand.

There is also a unique and troublesome aspect to the Medical Director's rejection of a long standing and previously skilled emergency medical technician's explanation for his failure to carry out what the Medical Director considered to be basic medical tasks. If Mr. Dargan had presented in a clinical context the Medical Director would have been expected to utilize the universal medical analytic technique of differential diagnosis. The parallels

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