No. 24-CV-1001

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court

Received 09/19/2025 03:40 PM

Filed 09/19/2025 03:40 PM

HAROLD DARGAN,
APPELLANT,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS, *et al.*,
APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

**BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
FIRE AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT**

BRIAN L. SCHWALB
Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE
Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK
Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL SCHIFFERLE
Deputy Solicitor General

*TESSA GELLERSON
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Solicitor General

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

Dargan’s District-law-based procedural arguments fare no better. Dargan concedes that the Fire and EMS Medical Director must have an “absolute right—

short of discriminatory animus” to decide whether to sponsor EMTs and paramedics. Br. 3 (emphasis omitted). This discretion makes good sense because sponsorship of a DOH application requires the Medical Director to attest to the applicant’s fitness for the certification at issue. Further, Dargan has identified no legal authority requiring the Medical Director to take *any* action before withdrawing his sponsorship, nor has Dargan identified any law requiring Fire and EMS to forward Dargan’s application to DOH.

And, regardless, the record does not support Dargan’s claim that he was denied any required procedural protection. Dargan has forfeited any argument that the procedural protections detailed in Bulletin No. 83 apply to his case—and by a plain-text reading, Bulletin No. 83 is inapposite. Further, before Dargan’s DOH certification expired, Fire and EMS provided Dargan six months of remediation and multiple opportunities to pass his skills assessment. Even after Dargan repeatedly failed his assessment, Dr. Miramontes offered to sponsor Dargan as a basic life support provider so that Dargan could keep working for Fire and EMS. Dr. Miramontes renewed this offer even after Dargan’s advanced life support (EMT-Intermediate) certification expired. District law does not mandate any further opportunities.

2. The adverse action against Dargan was commenced within 90 business days of the “act or occurrence allegedly constituting cause” in accordance with D.C.

Code § 5-1031(a) (2012). The “cause” for the adverse action was Dargan’s failure to maintain his DOH certification as an EMT-Intermediate, which was a mandatory requirement of his position as a Basic Paramedic. Dargan’s DOH certification expired on June 30, 2012, and he was given an advance written notice proposing his removal on October 31, 2012, only 84 business days later. Accordingly, the OEA correctly found that Dargan’s termination complied with Section 5-1031(a).

Each of Dargan’s arguments to the contrary lack merit. Dargan’s argument that the period commenced at some unspecified earlier date because Fire and EMS “should have known” that his certification would likely expire in the future makes no sense. The statute’s reference to what an employer “should have known” speaks to situations where the agency does not have *actual* knowledge of the event constituting cause, but nevertheless should have learned about the event through the exercise of its reasonable diligence at some point. It does not suggest that the limitations period can begin to run *before* the event allegedly constituting cause occurs. Adopting Dargan’s interpretation of Section 5-1031(a) would lead to absurd consequences. It would incentivize Fire and EMS to terminate employees when there is some possibility that cause may arise in the future rather than giving them the benefit of the doubt. Nothing in the statute suggests that was the Council’s desired outcome.

ARGUMENT

I. Dargan Was Afforded All The Legally Required Process Before And After His Termination.

A. Dargan has forfeited any constitutional due process claim, which in any event would fail on the merits.

To the extent Dargan argues that he was denied procedural due process as a matter of federal constitutional law, he failed to develop that argument before the OEA and it has accordingly been forfeited. *See* R. 1434-74 (6/16/23 Dargan Br. 1-41). “It is a principle of long standing that administrative and judicial efficiency require all claims be first raised at the agency level to allow appropriate development and administrative response before judicial review.” *Sims v. District of Columbia*, 933 A.2d 305, 309 (D.C. 2007) (cleaned up); *see Kalorama Heights Ltd. v. D.C. Dep’t of Consumer & Regul. Affs.*, 655 A.2d 865, 873 n.11 (D.C. 1995) (holding that a petitioner “should have presented all available arguments,” including its due process challenge, to the administrative agency). Likewise, Dargan has not developed any constitutional argument in his opening brief. Accordingly, the argument has been forfeited twice over. *Gabramadhin v. United States*, 137 A.3d 178, 187 (D.C. 2016) (“[I]t is not enough merely to mention a possible argument in the most skeletal way, leaving the court to do counsel’s work, create the ossature for the argument, and put flesh on its bones.”).

Even if the argument were not forfeited, Dargan undisputedly was given ample due process. First, he does not establish a protected property interest in his

continued employment, especially given his failure to maintain the required certification. *See Burton v. Off. of Emp. Appeals*, 30 A.3d 789, 798 (D.C. 2011) (“[t]o trigger due process protection in the area of public employment, an employee must have a legitimate claim of entitlement to [the right or benefit]” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Nunez v. Simms*, 341 F.3d 385, 389-92 (5th Cir. 2003) (holding that a public school teacher who was terminated for failure to maintain her certification for the position had no property interest in continued employment under the Due Process Clause). Indeed, as Fire and EMS noted in Dargan’s termination notice, it was statutorily required to terminate Dargan’s employment once his DOH certification expired. *See* R. 267 (Final Decision at 2), 399 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶40) (citing D.C. Code § 7-2341.15(d)); D.C. Code § 7-2341.15(d) (“No person, entity or government agency shall employ” an individual whose certification has been “suspen[ded], revo[ked], or terminat[ed]”).

Second, even assuming Dargan had a protected property interest, he does not identify the denial of any constitutionally required process. He does not contend, for example, that he was denied notice of his termination or an opportunity to contest his termination. *See* Br. 22-24, 37-48. Further, the failure to abide by state-law-mandated processes is not a *constitutional* due process violation. *See 1417 Belmont Cnty. Dev., LLC v. District of Columbia*, 302 A.3d 512, 517-18 (D.C. 2003) (concluding that a litigant “ha[d] not established a constitutional claim simply

because the District did not comply with . . . statutory provisions” governing notice) (collecting additional authorities).

And, regardless, Fire and EMS afforded Dargan ample process both before and after his termination. Fire and EMS provided Dargan with advance notice of his termination and afforded Dargan an opportunity to respond to the notice. *See R. 1114-16 (Advance Written Notice at 3), 1122-29 (Hearing Officer Decision); see Walker v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals, 310 A.3d 597, 603-06 (D.C. 2024) (holding that employee was afforded sufficient process when she had an opportunity to “present [her] side of the story before she was removed from office” (cleaned up)); Baldwin v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals, 226 A.3d 1140, 1146 n.12 (D.C. 2020) (denying due process challenge when litigant “was provided with an advanced written notice of his proposed removal”). At that time, Dargan was free to present any challenge that he had to the proposed termination.*

Dargan was then able to appeal his termination to the OEA, where he received an evidentiary hearing, and subsequently to the Superior Court and this Court (multiple times over). That pre- and post-termination process more than suffices to clear any constitutional floor. *Davis v. Univ. of D.C., 603 A.2d 849, 853 (D.C. 1992)* (emphasizing that due process requires only “notice and opportunity to be heard”). Indeed, this Court has clarified that “the requisite” process need not always “precede the taking of an administrative action”; it is “sufficient if somewhere in the

administrative-judicial process, due process was afforded.” *Holmes v. D.C. Bd. of Appeals & Review*, 351 A.2d 518, 522 (D.C. 1976). It was afforded in spades here.

B. The OEA correctly concluded that Dargan was afforded all the process that he was due under District law.

To the extent Dargan argues that District law entitled him to some additional process, even if not constitutionally mandated, he is also wrong. It is undisputed that the Fire and EMS “Medical Director must have the absolute right—short of discriminatory animus—to protect the public by designating which EMTs and Paramedics are to be permitted to practice under his licens[e].” Br. 3 (emphasis omitted); *see* D.C. Code § 5-404.01(e)(1) (explaining that EMTs and paramedics practice under the Medical Director’s license); *id.* § 5-404.01(d) (explaining that the Medical Director is responsible for “[m]edical training” and “[q]uality assurance of medical services”); *id.* § 5-404.01(e)(2) (explaining that the Medical Director can be “personally liable” in some instances for “death or injury” caused by EMTs and paramedics practicing under his license). And, as the OEA held, Dargan has pointed to no legal authority that required the Fire and EMS Medical Director to take “any specific action” before withdrawing sponsorship for Dargan’s recertification application. R. 1634-35 (11/29/23 OEA Decision at 10-11).

Regardless, Dr. Miramontes withdrew his sponsorship only after Dargan received extensive remediation and was afforded multiple opportunities to pass his skills assessment. Specifically, Dargan was placed in extensive remediation,

including classroom education, assessment testing, and field ride-outs and evaluations. R. 53 (Critical Remediation Action Plan), 393-95 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶¶ 17-27), 846-47 (8/4/21 Tr. 25-26), 1104-05 (2/14/12 Letter at 2-3). He was also afforded multiple opportunities to pass the required skills assessment, R. 394-95 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶¶ 23, 27), 849-55 (8/4/21 Tr. 28-34), with further remediation after his first failed attempt, R. 395 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶ 26), 1023 (8/4/21 Tr. 202), 1029 (8/4/21 Tr. 208). After Dargan failed his skills assessment for a second time and Dr. Miramontes decided to withdraw his sponsorship for an EMT-Intermediate certification, Dr. Miramontes still offered to sponsor Dargan at an EMT-Advanced level. R. 397 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶ 35), 856-57 (8/4/21 Tr. 35-36), 865 (8/4/21 Tr. 44), 1103 (2/14/12 Letter at 1), 1150 (9/11/12 Email). That path would have required certification for the provision of only basic, and not advanced, life support services, “until such time as [Dargan] completes a fully accredited Paramedic Course, gains NREMT-Paramedic certification, and completes an assessment by this agency.” R. 1103 (2/14/12 Letter at 1). Notably, had Dargan taken Fire and EMS up on this offer, he would have received much of the relief he now seeks: additional remediation and a further attempt to demonstrate his ability to provide advanced life support services. *See* Br. 2-3. Yet Dargan

steadfastly refused to apply for an EMT-Advanced certification. R. 397 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶ 35); R. 1037-38 (8/4/21 Tr. 216-17).

Further, under D.C. Code § 7-2341.15(b) and Mayor’s Order 2009-89, it is DOH, and not the Fire and EMS Medical Director, who may “deny renewal of” or otherwise “suspend, or revoke” a DOH certification. R. 1633-34 (11/29/23 OEA Decision at 9-10). When DOH denies an application, affected individuals may challenge that decision before OAH. *See* D.C. Code § 7-2341.17. But that provision, and the additional process it affords, was never triggered here. Dargan has identified no authority that required Fire and EMS to forward his incomplete application to DOH, nor is Fire and EMS aware of any such authority. Further, Dargan has waived any reliance on the DOH appeals process by repeatedly insisting that it is inapposite. *See, e.g.*, Br. 4 n.1; R. 1261-62 n.3 (12/20/19 DCCA Decision at 3-4). Regardless, even if Dargan had preserved this argument and DOH had initiated the revocation process, the result would be the same. Current regulations make clear what has always been true as a matter of common sense: “[s]ufficient grounds for denial, suspension, or revocation of a certification granted to an emergency medical services provider . . . shall include” “[b]eing adjudicated incompetent” and “[w]ithdrawal of sponsorship by the sponsoring medical director.” 29 DCMR § 563.17(d), (z).

At base, Dargan has not challenged the factual grounds for his termination—that he failed to maintain a DOH certification—or that incompetence constituted sufficient cause for his termination. Br. 31 n.10; R. 1635 (11/29/23 OEA Decision at 11). And Dargan’s DOH certification expired through no fault but his own, after he was afforded extensive process. To remain employed at Fire and EMS, Dargan was required only to maintain a DOH certification at either a paramedic or EMT level, not specifically an EMT-Intermediate certification. R. 48 (Bulletin No. 83 at 1). Yet Dargan declined Dr. Miramontes’s repeated offers to sponsor Dargan at an EMT-Advanced level of certification until Dargan could pass an advanced life support assessment. *See* R. 397 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶ 35), 912 (8/4/21 Tr. 91), 1038 (8/4/21 Tr. 217), 1103 (2/14/12 Letter at 1). That should end the Court’s inquiry.

C. Dargan’s contrary arguments are unavailing.

Dargan makes three arguments to the contrary, each of which lacks merit. *First*, Dargan argues that he did not receive “the full extent of testing and training provided for in” Bulletin No. 83. Br. 1. But Dargan waived this argument before the OEA, where he conceded that Bulletin No. 83’s procedural requirements do not apply to DOH recertification. R. 1456 (6/16/23 Dargan Br. 23), 1614 (5/20/23 Dargan Objection at 4). Because Dargan conceded this issue below, he may not relitigate it before this Court. *See Sims*, 933 A.2d at 309-10. Even if this argument

was preserved, it does not pass muster. As this Court has already suggested, the “testing procedures of Bulletin No. 83 . . . apply *only* to [NREMT]” certification, not DOH certification. R. 1261 (12/20/19 DCCA Decision at 3) (emphasis added). And “Dargan was terminated, not for failing to maintain his NREMT certification (which, as [the OEA] found, was still current at the time of his termination), but rather for failing to maintain his DOH certification.” R. 1260 (12/20/19 DCCA Decision at 2). So, as the OEA found, Bulletin No. 83 is relevant only in so far as it requires Fire and EMS emergency medical services providers to maintain a DOH certification. R. 1631-32 (11/29/23 OEA Decision at 7-8). Dargan’s reliance on Bulletin No. 83 is thus misplaced.

To the extent that Dargan gestures at some additional entitlement to remedial training flowing from Fire and EMS “practices and procedures,” Br. 1, he never specifies the source of any such requirement or explains why the remediation he received falls short. For example, Dargan requests “up to four months of remedial training in those areas previously found deficient with an emphasis on experience with the computerized simulation mannequin without additional verbal requirements.” Br. 49; *see* Br. 2 (requesting “remedial training on a computerized mannequin”). But he does not point to any provision of District law that would require such accommodation above and beyond the remediation Dargan already

received, which in the words of the then- Fire and EMS Medical Director had already been “exceptionally long.” R. 848-50 (8/4/21 Tr. 27-29).

Finally, Dargan also repeatedly accuses Dr. Miramontes of misrepresenting the remediation that Dargan received. *See* Br. 24, 43, 46. But the OEA reasonably found that Dargan “underwent an extensive six (6) month remediation process involving classroom education, laboratory education, and numerous field evaluations,” R. 1628 (11/29/23 OEA Decision at 4). The record and Dargan’s own briefing confirms as much. R. 53 (Critical Remediation Action Plan), 393-95 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶¶ 17-27), 846-47 (8/4/21 Tr. 25-26), 1104-05 (2/14/12 Letter at 2-3); Br. Attach. A. Further, the OEA’s conclusion that Dargan received 12 additional days at the training academy after he failed his February 2, 2012 assessment, R. 1629 (11/29/23 OEA Decision at 5), is supported by the record, R. 395 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶¶ 26, 27), 1023 (8/4/21 Tr. 202), 1029 (8/4/21 Tr. 208). Indeed, Dargan even appears to concede that this challenge was forfeited below. *See* Br. 43 (admitting that Dargan “could not” and did “not” challenge a February 3, 2012 email exchange that noted Dargan was being “detailed to the [training academy]”); R. 395 (5/26/15 Joint Statement of Material Facts ¶ 26).

Second, Dargan argues that his termination was improper because he had no control over Dr. Miramontes’s withdrawal of his sponsorship. Br. 38. But, again,

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